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DESCRIPTION SUMMARY:

The five Art Deco-style single-family detached Polychrome
houses are located on contiguous lots with adjoining back yards
in a middle class suburban residential neighborhood characterized
by mature trees and plantings. They were built in 1934 and 1935
by John Joseph Earley, a master craftsman, on lots ranging in
size from 7,360 to 10,150 sq. ft. Each of the houses is clad
with two-inch-thick precast mosaic concrete panels assembled on
site and anchored to a wood frame. Polychrome I, the prototype,
was designed in collaboration with J. R. Kennedy, a Washington,
D.C. architect. It is a one-story house with a detached one car
garage of similar design and materials. Polychrome II adjoins
Polychrome I to the north. It is one story with a loft room over
a one car attached garage. Both of these houses face east and
front on Colesville Road, a major thoroughfare. The three

L~ remaining Polychrome houses face west and front on Sutherland
Road, an interior subdivision street paralleling Colesville Road
one block to the west. Each is two stories in height with an
attached carport. The three two-story houses are identical in
design and floor plan and differ only in exterior color. Aall
five houses are in very good to excellent condition; with no
discernable diminishing of the brilliant exterior polychrome
walls. The houses have been in continuous use as single family
residences on their original sites since construction and have
undergone minimal alteration. The Polychrome houses are
documented in the book, Yesterdav’s Houses of Tomorrow, published
in 1991.

See Continuation Sheet No. 2
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION:

The building material that defines the distinctive Art Deco
architecture of all of the Polychrome houses is known as "mosaic
concrete." It is an architectural medium developed by John J.
Earley in which aggregates (including quartzes), ceramics, and
vitreous enamels of varying colors and sizes are blended under a
precise formula to produce almost limitless color tones. The
cement paste is brushed away from the surface of the panels,
allowing the brilliant spots of color to combine visually in thé
manner of Impressionist or pointillist paintings.' The slabs
for the Polychrome houses were cast face downward in flat shallow
molds, open at the back to allow access to the materials in the
mold. Excess water used in the mix was extracted from the
concrete by absorption.? Typically, designs and patterns were
created by securing sheet materials of proper shape and thickness
to the bottom of the mold, or by constructing plastic dams to
separase color work until the concrete achieved its initial
llset.ll .

Polychrome I, completed in 1934, is a single-story five-room
house consisting of a main block running north and south, with a
small wing on the north end of the main block extending east.

The foundation is of poured-in-place concrete. The exterior
walls are comprised of 32 two-inch-thick precast mosaic concrete
panels, each four to eight feet wide and nine feet high. Metal
casement window and door frames were imbedded in the panels
before casting. The panels are attached to a conventional wood
frame and anchored to the foundation by U-shaped hangers threaded
with reinforcing rods, with reinforced concrete columns cast in
place behind each joint. The main panels are pink-beige in .
color, the result of exposing surface aggregates of red jasperi-
te. Corner panels are buff-colored and are in the form of fluted
pilasters. Window and door surrounds are also buff-colored, with
a cobalt blue panel set under each window. A decorative frieze,
consisting of a red and black zigzag and arrow pattern topped by
a cobalt blue band, surrounds the entire building. The front
door is flanked by fluted buff-colored aggregate pilasters edged
in cobalt blue. Above the door is an elliptical fluted concrete
slab covering a ceiling light. The wooden door is painted- red
and is inset with three square mosaic concrete panels in an

See Continuation Sheet No. 3
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intricate red and black design. The door sill and the sidewalks
leading to the door are decorated at the edges with small red and
blue geometric patterns. The hipped roof is clad with slate
shingles and extends over an open back porch, which is supported
by three monumental columns. On the roof over the main block is
a precast mosaic concrete chimney decorated with geometric
designs in cobalt blue, red, and black.*

Interior ornamentation includes a precast concrete mosaic
fireplace and ceiling-high mantel, decorated in geometric
patterns and flanked by fluted pilasters. In addition, the
windows are trimmed on the interior with a band of cobalt blue,
cast as an integral part of the exterior panels.®

The detached one-car garage sits parallel to the rear
property line and is reached by a driveway on the south side of
S~ the lot. The garage was built in 1934 in the same manner as the
house and is a contributing resource. The mosaic concrete panels
of the garage complement the pink-beige hue of the house but are
without ornamentation. The hipped roof is slate shingle.

There have been no exterior alterations to the house or the
garage and both are in very good condition.

Polychrome II, next door to Polychrome I, was completed in
1935. It is a one-story six-room house consisting of a main
block running north to south, an attached garage extending beyond
the north end of the main block to the west, and a small wing at
the south end of the front elevation facing east. The gable
roof, originally tiled, is now clad with asphalt shingles. There
is a loft room over the one-car attached garage. The materials
and method of construction are the same as those used in
Polychrome I. The concrete mosaic panels have built-in corner
returns. Red jasperite is the dominant color of the exposed
aggregate, giving the exterior surface a rosy-pink hue. There
are three large metalframe porthole windows, two in the front
overlooking an open porch, and one at the rear on the west wall
of the living room. The circular frames are inset with standard
casement windows. The front porch is partially enclosed by a low
concrete mosaic wall with decorative geometric inserts in deep
red. The same decorative wall treatment is used on a small porch

See Continuation Sheet No. 4
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at a side door on the north side of the house. A driveway runs
along the north property line to the entrance of the attached
garage, which faces north. Large decorative mosaic concrete
planters are affixed to the south and west walls of the wing
attached to the south end of the main block.

Interior ornamentation includes a mosaic concrete fireplace
mantel decorated with narrow bands of arrows in blue and red.
The three porthole windows are a distinctive interior feature as
well. In addition, the original geometric-patterned ceramic tile
in the bathroom is intact.

Polychrome II is in excellent condition. In addition to the
change in roofing material, there have been three minor
alterations to the exterior. A small glass-walled solarium has
been created by enclosing the original mosaic concrete patio, a

e triangular space between the rear wall of the main block and the
¢ attached garage. In addition, a fiberglass awning in a color
complementary to the exterior walls has been added over the side
door. The original front and side doors have been replaced with
black doors with wrought iron grillwork that are compatible with
the Art Deco style of the house.

The three two-story Polychrome houses on Sutherland Road
were constructed in 1935, despite some skepticism about the
suitability of the Earley Process for two-story structures. The
same materials and method of construction were used. These
houses are identical except for variations in exterior colors and
decorative trim. They are square in shape with an attached
carport. The roof of each carport is enclosed with a low railing
and serves as a small terrace.

The roof on each of these houses is hipped and is clad with
the original slate shingles (at 9925 Sutherland shingles
replaced). The house at 9919 Sutherland Road has one decorative
detail missing from the other two Sutherland Road houses: on the
under side of the eaves are narrow bands of cobalt blue and dark
red surrounding the entire building. In contrast to this hidden
detail, a wide and highly visible decorative frieze of stylized
maple leaves arranged in a geometric pattern wraps around the
upper third of each house, except for a center panel at the

( See Continuation Sheet No. 5
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front. This center panel defines the space between the two
symmetrical upstairs windows and between the first floor window
and front door. Narrow bands of dark aggregate at regularly
spaced intervals create the appearance of horizontal cuts across
these center panels. Further emphasizing the horizontal line,
and illustrative of the Art Deco style, is a curved projecting
lintel course over the front door. To the right of the front
door is an additional decorative feature with a practical
purpose: a cut-out chevron design worked into the exterior wall
panel covers the first floor bathroom casement window, which
swings inward.

On the north end of each house is a glass brick wall
approximately six-feet-square set into the exterior concrete

panels.
Two symmetrically placed full size metal-framed glass doors open
S~ onto the back yard from the rear (east) wall of the house. On

the south wall of the carport is a large metal-framed window
flanked by relief panels in a chevron design. A concrete privacy
wall with decorative cut-outs extends east from the east wall of
the carport. A similar privacy wall extends north from the
northwest corner of the front facade.

Interior features typifying the Art Deco style include
parquet floors, the glass brick wall at the north end of the
large rectangular living/dining room area, and original wood wall
paneling in this area. Decorative doors with evenly spaced
circle cut-outs enclose the furnace room in the kitchen and the
fuse box in the front hall. The design of these doors closely
resembles diagrams of the step-grading process Earley devéloped
for producing a uniform aggregate mix. A staircase with a half-
landing and a stepped dividing wall leads to the second floor.

On the second floor are three corner bedrooms and a
generously sized full bathroom with a built-in bath set into a
diagonal recess. Other original features of the bathroom include
a swinging retractable shower curtain rod and geometric-patterned
ceramic tile. A door in the southwest corner bedroom leads to
the terrace roof of the carport.

See Continuation Sheet No. 6
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Alterations have been relatively minor. All three carports
have been enclosed. The rear carport enclosure includes a
standard-size door. On the house at 9919 Sutherland Road, all
put one of the casement windows on the second-story, and the
living room window on the first floor, have been replaced with
standard vinyl-trim windows. All other doors and windows on
these three houses are original.

The exterior colors and decorative trim of the three
sutherland Road houses suggest a seasonal scheme. The house at
9919 is predominantly tan with fall-like accents of buff and deep
red. The main panels of the middle house at 9923 are thought to
be made of the same combination of crystalline and opalescent-
guartz used by Earley for the Baha’i Temple in Wilmette, Illi-
nois, which was under construction from 1932 to 1951. The result
is so strikingly white that it is sometimes mistaken for paint.
The trim and the broad frieze of stylized maple leaves are in
forest green to carry out a summer theme. At 9925 the combina-
tion of rose and buff mosaic panels with lighter green trim is
suggestive of a spring motif. While these houses lack some of
the more intricate ornamentation of Polychrome I and II, the
symmetry of the window and door placement, the curved lintel
overhang, and the numerous horizontal accents are perhaps more
frankly evocative of the Art Deco style.

See Continuation Sheet No. 7
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fug ! Uniformly Graded Mix. With

Fig. 2. Uniformly Graded Mix With
Particles Well-Distributed

- Particles Bunched In Pockets

Fig 3  Spheres On A Flat Surface Fig 4. Step-Graded Mix Of Two Parti-

ﬂ: lSizes. Ratio Of Particle Diameters is '
M: 32-5, Polychrome Historic District, Montgomery, Mar lan§. -
Diagrams of John J. Earley's patented step-grade% proc&ss or producing
a uniform aggregate mix, from The Man Who Made Concrete Beautiful,
Frederick W. Cron. The design of the decorative fuse box and furnace
doors in the Sutherland Road houses echoes the patterns created by

the distribution of particles in these diagrams. See description in

Section 7, p. 5. See Continuation Sheet No. 8
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HISTORIC CONTEXT:
MARYLAND COMPREHENSIVE HISTORIC PRESERVATION PLAN DATA
Geographic Organization: Piedmont

Chronological/Developmental Period(s):

Modern Period - A.D. 1930-Present

Prehistoric/Historic Period Theme(s) :

Architecture/Landscape Architecture/Community Planning

& Social/Educational/Cultural
Resource Type:
Category: District
Historic Environment: Suburban
Historic Function(s) and Use(s):
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
Known Design Source:
Builder/Master Craftsman-John Joseph Earley
Architect (Polychrome I) J.R. Kennedy
S

See Continuation Sheet No. 13
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SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY:

The five single-family dwellings that comprise the

Polychrome Historic District were built in 1934-35 by master-
craftsman John Joseph Earley (1881-1945). These unique houses
are outstanding examples of the Art Deco-style and reflect
Earley’s artistry and craftsmanship. Conventional wood frames
were clad with prefabricated "mosaic concrete'" panels utilizing a
process Earley developed and patented in which the concrete was
stripped to expose the brilliantly colored aggregate particles,
creating an effect similar to impressionist or pointillist
painting. In addition to their striking, richly ornamented
appearance, these houses represent a relatively rare example of
precast concrete panel construction in single-family housing for
the time period. Earley’s patented structural system led to the
widespread use of precast architectural concrete as a major

B exterior cladding material. The legacy of the Polychrome houses

(%' can be seen in thousands of curtain-wall buildings nationwide.

Earley was a master builder who culminated nearly three
decades of engineering and architectural experience in the design
and construction of the Polychrome houses. From 1906 to 1933 he
was responsible for such complex and demanding projects as the
stucco work for Meridian Hill Park (Washington, D.C., 1916); the
casting of Lorado Taft’s sculpture, "The Fountain of Time"
(Chicago, 1920-22); the rebuilding of the replica of the
Parthenon at Nashville (1925); and the Baha’i Temple of Light in
Wilmette, Illinois (begun in 1932). Earley created a new medium
for the decorative arts--mosaic concrete--in designing the rickly
detailed interior of the Shrine of the Sacred Heart (Washington,
D.C. 1923), the same material used in executing the intricate
design of the ceilings for the Department of Justice (1933) and
in the Polychrome houses. Earley wrote eloguently about the
social changes taking place in the United States during the 1930s
and the demand for what he termed "social justice." The
Polychrome houses represent his attempt to solve the '"small house
problem" by providing innovative housing at modest cost during
the economic and social upheaval of the Great Depression.

(; See Continuation Sheet No. 14
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John Joseph Earley

John Joseph Earley was the son of James Farrington Earley, a
fourth generation stone-carver and ecclesiastical artist, and
Mary Kelly Earley. He was born in New York City on December 12,
1881, shortly after his parents had emigrated from Ireland. 1In
1890 the Earley family moved to Washington, D.C., where James
Earley established the Earley Studio, a stone carving and
modeling business. During this period the studio did the stone
work and ornamental sculpture for many churches and government
buildings. A more unusual project was a commission to design the
"buffalo" nickel, which James Earley executed for the United
States Mint.

John Earley was educated in parochial schools in Washington,

D.C., finishing at St. John’s College (as it was then known) ,

P where he studied the classics. At 17 he began an apprenticeship
in the crafts of sculpture, model making, and stone carving at
his father’s studio. He inherited the studio at the age of 25
when his father died in 1906. Fulfilling his father’s deathbed
wish, he entered into a business relationship with Basil Gordon:
Taylor, a gifted practical engineer who had begun his career at
the Earley Studio as a handyman.$

Over the next two decades John Earley developed and
perfected a process for producing exposed aggregate stucco, which
in turn led to the invention of a new medium for the decorative
arts--mosaic concrete--and ultimately to the precasting of these
thin panels in the studio for later assembly on site in the
construction of houses and other structures.

The Farley Process - Innovations in Concrete Construction

The "Earley Process," which was the basis for the concrete
panel construction ultimately used in the Polychrome houses, had
its origins in a research project on stucco conducted by the
Earley Studio at the Bureau of Standards (now the National
Institute of Standards and Technology) in 1911. The purpose of
this project was to probe the causes of numerous failures in ’
stucco construction in the early 1900s. In 1914, the Earley
Studio was engaged to do the stucco work for broader based

i

See Continuation Sheet No. 15
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experiments and John Earley was appointed to the technical
advisory committee.

Concurrently, in 1916 Earley’s studio was retained by the
U.S. Office of Public Buildings and Grounds to execute the stucco
work for the terraced water cascades at Meridian Hill Park in
Washington, D.C. This feature was the major design element at
Meridian Hill Park and served as a prototype for the decorative
use of exposed aggregate concrete by landscape architects. Two
important innovations in the development of the Earley Process
resulted from this project. First, Earley realized that a
textured concrete surface could be created by stripping the forms
while the concrete was still "green" and then removing the
covering of cement paste from the aggregate to expose the larger
pebbles.’” In addition to adding texture, this technique
produced a pleasing change in color, from cold gray to a warm
creamy tan. A test panel was produced for the United States .
Commission of Fine Arts and was enthusiastically approved for use
at Meridian Hill Park. Earley coined the term "architectural
concrete" to describe the new finish.

Further refinements were necessary, however, to prevent the
pebbles from bunching together in pockets. To solve the problem,
Earley developed a step-grading process for producing a uniform
aggregate mix, using one size of pebbles and one size of sand
particles at a ratio of 10:1.°

A second problem involved the demolding of the balusters.
Earley again drew on Bureau of Standards research and found that
by removing part of the mixing water from the concrete in the
mold, the casting would set faster and have sufficient strength
to overcome the suction of demolding. With the solution of these
two problems, his biographer, Frederick W. Cron, states, "Earley .
had now discovered and put into use the significant elements of
what was to become an important industrial process."’ In 1921
and 1922, Earley was granted U.S. patents for both the step-
graded aggregate process he developed and for his method of
lining molds for protection during casting.

See Continuation Sheet No. 16
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Mosaic Concrete

Earley continued to experiment with permanent coloring
techniques for exposed aggregate stucco in collaboration with
J.C. Pearson, a cement chemist at the Bureau of Standards. The
construction of the East Potomac Park Field House in southwest
Washington, D.C. in 1919 reinforced the success of this tech-
nique.

In 1920, while the Earley Studio was casting Lorado Taft’s
monumental sculpture "The Fountain of Time'" in Chicago, John
Earley was contacted by the Washington architectural firm of
Murphy and Olmsted, which had been retained by the congregation
of the Church of the Sacred Heart to design a new church at Park
Road and 16th Street in Washington, D.C. The church, which
became known as the Shrine of the Sacred Heart, was to be a

(fM\ vaulted basilica in the northern Italian Romanesque style, and

the architects envisioned a richly detailed mosaic interior.
However, the cost and availability of materials were major
hurdles. For the solution, the architects turned to John Earley
and his innovative work in concrete.

It was in the execution of this splendid interior that
Earley created the medium of mosaic concrete. The development of
this new dimension in concrete design is best described by
Earley himself in a book published in 1924 about the Shrine of
the Sacred Heart:

. . . When we learned that the aggregate would be the
dominating element of architectural concrete, and that the
character and position of the particles could be controlled,
there was opened to us a treasure of color, knowledge and
experience . . . By considering the particles of aggregate
as spots of color in juxtaposition, all the knowledge and
much of the technique of the impressionist, or the
pointillist school of painting, was immediately applicable
to concrete.

This school places color spots, side by side with one

another, in such a manner that they blend in the air to hues
of even value and chroma . . . Colors for which no

See Continuation Sheét No. 17
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aggregate has yet been found . . . are successfully made . .
10 To reproduce the architect’s

brilliantly colored polychrome designs, Ea-

rley assembled more than 200 colors of aggre-

gates, many of them imported.

The interior work was completed in 1923. "[Tlhe effect on
beholders, then as now, was breathtaking," Cron states, and the
Shrine "attracted wide attention in architectural circles.""

" The Baha’i Temple

Earley’s growing reputation as a craftsman of extraordinary
artistic gifts was greatly enhanced when his studio was
commissioned to do the exterior ornamentation for what many
consider to be the most beautiful, and certainly the most

o intricate, building ever constructed of concrete: the Baha’i

K;ﬁ Temple of Light in Wilmette, Illinois. This project is also a
stunning example of the principle of separating structure from
ornament, which Earley continued to espouse.

The initial contact came in 1920, when Earley was approached
by Louis Bourgeois, an architect and a member of the Baha’i
Faith, about his plans for a magnificent edifice to be built on a
pluff overlooking Lake Michigan. Because of fund-raising
difficulties, the contract for the dome was not signed until
1932, two years after the architect’s death. It was left to
Earley to interpret Bourgeois’ design. This was especially
difficult because there were no final engineering plans for the
exterior ornamentation and no method had been developed for
attaching the ornamentation to the steel superstructure.*?

Earley had been thinking about the project for more than a
decade, however, because, as he later wrote, "’somehow it always
seemed to be our work.’"™

Earley described the structure as "’a thing to fascinate the
imagination . . . [a] temple of light with a great pierced dome .
. . the courses of the stars woven into a fabric . . . Interwoven
are the tendrils of living things, leaves, and flowers, because
no symb%l of creation would be complete without a symbol of
life.’"

See Continuation Sheet No. 18
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The technical problems were formidable. The dome consisted
of nine identical triangular fields between nine identical ribs,
and the casts weighed as much as three tons each. The size and
weight required a further modification to the process developed
15 years earlier for the balusters at Meridian Hill Park: a
change in the size of the smallest aggregate permitted the
extraction of additional water to obtain greater stability.'®

The dome was completed in 1934. The Earley Studio continued
to be involved in the exterior and interior ornamentation of the
Temple of Light until its final completion in March, 1951.

Department of Justice

In 1933, while the Baha’i Temple project was under
= construction, Earley’s studio was engaged to execute concrete
' mosaic ceilings for the Art Deco interior of the new Department
of Justice building in Washington.

This project marked a turning point for the studio and
precipitated a dramatic change in John Earley’s philosophy on the
separation of structure and ornamentation. The architects, the
Philadelphia firm of Zantziger, Borie and Medary, insisted upon a
monolithic finish. Despite Earley’s initial arguments, the
specifications explicitly stated that "’the mosaic finish and the
structural concrete connected with it shall be one.’"'¢

Previously the studio had used monolithic finishes only on
smaller objects, such as plaqgues, that could be demolded within
24 hours. As Earley’s biographer Cron states: '"This was
patently impossible for the two great main beams [of the Justice
Department ceilings], which would have to be supported at least a
week to gain the strength necessary to hold up their own
weight.""’

Rethinking the problem, John Earley had an idea:

’If we were to strengthen the mosaic concrete slabs
we might use them as forms to support the structural
concrete while setting and thus discard the

=
: See Continuation Sheet No. 19
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conventional wooden forms and supports.”’'®
Earley goes on to describe the solution:

’and so the ceilings were built. The precast slabs
were made in our studio and taken to the building and
set in place. Into them as into a mold the structural
concrete of the second floor was poured. A strange
thing had been done. The decorated surface of a
concrete structure was its mold. The concrete had, if I may
use the figure, been poured into its own skin.”’"

Thus the Earley Process entered a new phase in its evolution
and set the stage for the implementation of an idea John Earley
had first articulated in 1924 in connection with the Shrine of
the Sacred Heart, when he observed that "[tlhe usefulness of
concrete . . . may be extended not only to beautiful churches and
great buildings, but to homes and little buildings."%®

Experimental Housing of the Depression Era

In the wake of the stock market crash of 1929 and Franklin
Delano Roosevelt’s proclamation of the "forgotten man" in 1932,
national attention was focused in a new and urgent way on the
housing needs of Americans. As one architectural and social
historian put it:

. . . There was a general feeling that there must
be an enormous market for a good and inexpensive
detached house, that good dwellings might be more important to
the national welfare than good automobiles, that good houses
obviously cost too much, that it should be possible to design
theg for mass production and that not enough was being done about
it.

John Earley articulated his own response to this newly
perceived need in an article in the Journal of the American
Concrete Institute at the height of the Depression:

See Continuation Sheet No. 20
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Great social changes are taking place in the United
States. The people demand that further steps be taken
towards a social justice that will effect a more
general and equitable distribution of the comforts of liv-
ing. « '
- « « [Ilt is entirely possible that we all will
come to understand that the security which we desire
for ourselves and our dependents, lies in the nation’s
ability to provide food and shelter for everyone. It.
seems to me that the simplest way in which such
security can be achieved is to enable everyone to procure a
small house and a plot of ground, which can be
cultivated and which will produce sustenance.??

An article on "The Small House" in the October, 1935, issue

v of Architectural Forum looked back at 'the six creeping years

o~ since 1929" and concluded that '"[hlad there been no depression,
there would have been no change. But there was depression. And
the masterminds of economics decided that the key to recovery was
home building . . . Thus, for the first time, the best minds of
the U.S. deigned to consider the home."? The government
responded to the crisis with housing programs sponsored by
agencies such as the Reconstruction Finance Agency and the
Housing Division of the Public Works Administration.

As a sense of optimism began to return after the 1932
election, public-spirited citizens and private industry joined
forces to sponsor the Century of Progress Exposition, which was
held in Chicago in 1933. The July issue of Architectural Forum
in that year featured more than a dozen prototype houses on
display along the Lake Michigan waterfront. These
"demonstration" houses included the Armco-Ferro Enamel House, the
Stran-Steel House, the Masonite, Lumber Industries, and Common
Brick houses, and the House of Tomorrow and the House of Today.

This movement and professional interest in domestic
architecture inspired the construction of a number of examples of
prefabricated/demonstration houses in the Washington, D.C. area
during this time period. Virtually all of these building ’
postdate the completion of Earley’s five Polychrome houses in
suburban Maryland. A two-story Motohome (steel framed, flat

See Continuation Sheet No. 21
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steel-roofed, with exterior wall panels of asbestos cement) was
erected in the Kenwood subdivision in Montgomery County in
1936.2¢ A Frank Lloyd Wright Usonian house, now known as the
Pope-Leighy House and relocated to Mount Vernon, Virginia, was
originally designed in 1939 for a site in Falls Church, Virginia.
It is one of some two dozen wooden houses designed by Wright
between the mid-1930s and the early 1940s as relatively low-cost
prefabricated housing for '"the common man."?® In 1941, the
federal government sponsored a development of prefabricated
houses, from different manufacturers, in Indian Hill, Maryland.
Most models were constructed of plywood or similar material on a
wood frame.?¢

In addition, during the 1930s the federal housing policy
fostered the construction of whole new towns, including some 30
communities of "subsistence" homesteads and three '"greenbelt™
- towns.2” One of these new towns, Greenbelt, Maryland, was under
(\_ construction while the Polychrome houses were being erected in
nearby Silver Spring.

Polvychrome Houses

Given the nature of the times and his background as a master
craftsman in concrete, it was perhaps inevitable that John Earley
would join the "demonstration" effort and devise a practical
method of building houses with his mosaic concrete panels, the
end product of a process that had started 20 years earlier at the
Bureau of Standards.

The use of concrete in American domestic architecture was
not new. Milton House, a hostelry built entirely of ''gravel
wall," was constructed in Wisconsin in 1844. The concept was
borrowed by Orson Fowler for some of his Octagon houses in the
1850s. Ward’s Castle (1873-1876) combined concrete with iron
reinforcing rods and is believed to have cost $100,000. Thomas
Edison’s plans for a poured-concrete house made with reusable
steel molds evolved over several years, at escalating cost; some
of his ideas ultimately were utilized by Frank Lambie and others
between 1912-1914 to construct a dozen or so houses.?

Q{_ See Continuation Sheet No. 22




M:32-5

NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet POLYCHROME HISTORIC DISTRICT

Montgomery County
Maryland

Section number —8 __ Page 22 __

These efforts all required elaborate, labor-intensive
techniques including on-site mixing and poured-in-place molding.
Edison’s cast iron molds, for example, were estimated to weigh
between 250,000 and 450,000 pounds; the suggested method for
transporting them to the building site was "’by railroad or
teams.’" On-site assembly required four electrically-driven
derricks. Variations in exterior color were to be achieved
through”the use of applied paints or by tinting the concrete
itself. )

In contrast, when John Earley built the five small but
richly detailed and ornamented Polychrome houses in a burgeoning
suburb of Washington, D.C. in 1934-35, he devised a method of
construction that brought together a renewed interest in
prefabrication and his own aesthetic and technical innovations in
concrete construction.

o~

As he described the method in a 1935 article, the thin
precast slabs of mosaic concrete were hauled from the Earley
Process plant in Rosslyn, Virginia, by a one-and-a-half ton truck
and were assembled on site directly from the truck using a chain
hoist and a piece of six-inch steel beam set on an "A" frame.

(It should be noted that the simplicity of this system and the
thinness of the panels contrasted sharply with earlier concrete
prefabrication which required cranes and other large mechanical
devices.) The slabs were fastened at the joints, supported, and
tied to the foundation by small reinforced concrete columns. A
special device, consisting of dowels protruding from the back of
each slab along the vertical edge, allowed the slabs to move in
any direction independently. Earley chose to attach his mosaic
concrete walls to a conventional wood frame, and to roof the
house with slate, to avoid, as he put it, "the pit of
misapplication" which awaited those who, having come up with an
ingenious idea for building with a special material "“have
permitted their idea to obsess them." It was Earley’s philosophy
that '"the new American home will be a composite of materials,
each used to the best advantage for the good of the house."?°

See Continuation Sheet No. 23
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The Impact of the Polyvchrome Houses on the Field of Concrete
Construction

John Earley and the Polychrome houses received considerable
attention in contemporary architectural literature. The July,
1935, issue of Architectural Forum featured Earley and Polychrome
T in a detailed article entitled, "Prefabrication for
Architects,”" which included photographs of the house as it was
being assembled on site. In February, 1940, an article on
"aArchitectural Concrete Slabs'" in the same publication credits
"Washington craftsman-in-concrete John Joseph Earley" as '"the man
[mlore than any other responsible for the development of the
slabs." That article featured the two Polychrome houses on
Colesville Road, noting that they "have been standing for five
years," and the mosaic concrete ceilings Earley executed for the
Department of Justice.

Earley’s achievements as a master craftsman, and his
contributions to the concrete industry and to the fields of
architecture and engineering, were recognized in several
different ways during the 1930s. 1In 1934 he received the
American Concrete Institute’s most prestigious award, the Turner
Gold Medal, "‘for outstanding achievement in developing concrete
as an architectural medium.’"®' The American Institute of Archi-
tects awarded Earley its Craftsmanship Medal in 1936 "/for
meritorious and original work in the application of color to
masonry and the development of a new technique for the decorative
use of
concrete . . .’"2 In 1938 he was elected president of the
American Concrete Institute, the first non-engineer to hold that
position.

Earley and his partner, Basil Taylor, were granted a U.S.
Patent in 1936 for the technique of tying precast panels
together. Previously (in 1921 and 1922) Earley had been granted
patents for the step-graded aggregate process he developed and
for a method of lining molds for protection during casting, both
of which formed the basis of the "Earley Process."

These two patented processes--the culmination of almost
three decades of experimentation in concrete design and

See Continuation Sheet No. 24
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construction--were joined together for the first time in the
construction of the five Polychrome houses.

Earley himself recognized that the new principle of
construction applied to the Polychrome houses, that is, the free
attachment of prefabricated thin slabs to a reinforced concrete
skeleton, had far-reaching implications. He observed in 1935
that "the principle is larger than the [small house] problem
itself and we may expect to see it applied to major construction
when major construction will again become important.'?33
Earley’s prediction of wider application was correct. The book
Yesterday’s Houses of Tomorrow, published in 1991, includes an
essay on the Polychrome houses and notes that, "[olver the years
precast architectural concrete became a major exterior cladding
material" and that "thousands upon thousands of buildings across .
America can trace their lineage to the little houses in Silver

-~ Spring. "3 ‘

John Earley did not live to participate in the housing boom
that followed World War II. He died in 1945 after suffering a
stroke on a job site. His craftsmanship and artistry in concrete
construction are evident today in the many projects that survive
him. The papers and articles he wrote show him to have been an
erudite and articulate man whose love for the medium in which he
worked was almost spiritual. He once expressed it in this way:

. . . Concrete is so wonderfully responsive that it
has wound a spell around me and around the men in my
studio. When the work is taken from the moulds each
morning and the colors are exposed, there is something
so spectacular, so magical about it, that our
enthusiasm never abates.?3®

7
See Continuation Sheet No. 25
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION:

Lots 1, 2, 8, 9, 10, Block A, Fairway, Section One and Section
Two, Montgomery County, Maryland.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION:

The five contiguous lots encompass the five houses and one
detached garage constructed by John J. Earley in 1934-35 and
comprise the entire property historically associated with the
resource.
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1) Ivan Baran
9919 Sutherland Road
Silver Spring, Maryland 20901

2) Renata Gould
© 9904 Colesville Road
Silver Spring, Maryland 20901

3) Thomas H. and E.F. Bass

5433 Ashleigh Road
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 (owners of 9900 Colesville Road and 9923 and 9925

Sutherland Road)
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M: 32-5, Polychrome Historic District, Montgomery, Maryland
[(hatch-marked area): Lots 1, 2, Block A, 9900 and 9904 Colesville
Road; Lots 10,9,8, Block &, 9919, 9923, 9925 Sutherland Road.
Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission, Silver Spring,
Maryland. ’
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